
 
 

Lancashire Fire & Rescue Service Headquarters, Garstang Road, Fulw ood, Preston PR2 3LH  
Sw itchboard: 01772 862545 Democratic Services: 01772 866720 

General Enquiries: enquiries@lancsfirerescue.org.uk 

Lancashire Combined Fire Authority 
Planning Committee 
 

Monday, 20 November 2023 in Washington Hall, Service Training Centre, 
Euxton commencing at 10.00 am. 
 
If you have any queries regarding the agenda papers or require any further information, please 

initially contact Diane Brooks on telephone number Preston (01772) 866720 and she will be 
pleased to assist. 

 

Agenda 
 
Part 1 (open to press and public) 

 
Chairman's Announcement – Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 

Any persons present at the meeting may photograph, film or record the proceedings, during the 
public part of the agenda.  Any member of the press and public who objects to being 

photographed, filmed or recorded should let it be known to the Chairman who will then instruct 
that those persons are not photographed, filmed or recorded. 

 
1.   Apologies for Absence  

 
2.   Disclosure of Pecuniary and Non-Pecuniary Interests  

 

Members are asked to consider any pecuniary and non-pecuniary interests they 
may have to disclose to the meeting in relation to matters under consideration on 
the agenda. 

 
3.   Minutes of Previous Meeting (Pages 1 - 20) 

 
4.   Emergency Cover Review - Implementation Update (Pages 21 - 24) 

 

5.   Blue Light Collaboration Board Update (Pages 25 - 28) 

 

6.   His Majesty's Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue Services 
(Pages 29 - 32) 

 
7.   Urgent Business  

 

An item of business may only be considered under this heading where, by reason 
of special circumstances to be recorded in the Minutes, the Chairman of the 
meeting is of the opinion that the item should be considered as a matter of 

urgency.  Wherever possible, the Clerk should be given advance warning of any 
Member’s intention to raise a matter under this heading. 

 

Public Document Pack



2 
 

 
8.   Date of Next Meeting  

 

The next scheduled meeting of the Committee has been agreed for 10:00 hours 
on 5 February 2024 in the Main Conference Room, at Lancashire Fire and 

Rescue Service Headquarters, Fulwood. 
 
Further meetings are: scheduled for 15 July 2024 

 proposed for 18 November 2024 
 

9.   Exclusion of Press and Public  
 

The Committee is asked to consider whether, under Section 100A(4) of the Local 

Government Act 1972, they consider that the public should be excluded from the 
meeting during consideration of the following items of business on the grounds 

that there would be a likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in the 
appropriate paragraph of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 
1972, indicated under the heading to the item. 

 
PART 2  

 
10.   Urgent Business (PART 2)  

 

An item of business may only be considered under this heading where, by reason 
of special circumstances to be recorded in the Minutes, the Chairman of the 

meeting is of the opinion that the item should be considered as a matter of 
urgency.  Wherever possible, the Clerk should be given advance warning of any 
Member’s intention to raise a matter under this heading. 

 
 



Lancashire Combined Fire Authority 
Planning Committee 
 

Monday, 17 July 2023, at 10.00 am in the Main Conference Room, Service 
Headquarters, Fulwood. 
 

Minutes 
 

Present:  

  

Councillors 

 
 

S Clarke (Chair)  

J Singleton (Vice-Chair)  

G Baker  

M Dad  

N Hennessy  

J Hugo  

D O'Toole  

P Rigby  

J Shedwick  

 
Officers 

 

S Healey, Deputy Chief Fire Officer (LFRS) 
J Charters, Assistant Chief Fire Officer (LFRS) 

T Powell, Area Manager, Head of Service Improvement (LFRS) 
J Ashton, Area Manager (Acting) Head of ToR and Innovation and Improvement (LFRS) 
K McCreesh, Group Manager - Community Protection Manager (LFRS) 

D Brooks, Principal Member Services Officer (LFRS) 
L Barr, Member Services Officer (LFRS) 

 
In attendance 

 

K Wilkie, Fire Brigades Union 

 

1/23   Apologies for Absence  
 

 Apologies for absence were received from Cllr Fred Jackson. 
 

2/23   Disclosure of Pecuniary and Non-Pecuniary Interests  

 

 County Councillor Rigby advised that a member of his family owned the old Odeon 
site in Preston which had recently had a large fire (as detailed on page 38 of the 
agenda pack). 

 

3/23   Minutes of Previous Meeting  
 

 CC Hennessy raised a number of questions under matters arising:  
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



 Page 8, Leadership Development – The Deputy Chief Fire Officer advised that 
the Service had an ongoing programme of development and was currently 

looking to go out to tender for the delivery of levels 3, 5 and 7 ILM/CMI courses. 

 Page 11, National Definition of Risk – The Deputy Chief Fire Officer advised 
that 2005 saw national standards disappear and the development of integrated 

(now community) risk management plans with each fire and rescue service 
setting its own performance standards.  In relation to risk, it was fair to say that 

services could define it differently but at a national level the National Fire Chiefs 
Council was undertaking some work towards creating a consistent approach.  
This was being led by Cleveland Fire Brigade Chief Fire Officer, Ian Hayton and 

was in progress. 

 Page 12, His Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue 

Services (HMICFRS) progress report to Strategy Group – The Assistant Chief 
Fire Officer advised the action plan had not been taken to the last Strategy 

Group meeting due given the scale of items already included on the agenda 
and time constraints for the meeting.  A broad update was within the Planning 
Committee agenda pack and it was agreed that the action plan could be 

brought to a future meeting of the Planning Committee.  
  
Resolved: That the Minutes of the last meeting held on 6 February 2023 be 

confirmed as a correct record and signed by the Chair. 
 

4/23   Annual Service Report  
 

 The Deputy Chief Fire Officer presented the report.  The Annual Service Report 
was produced annually by the Service as part of its accountability to measure 
progress against the items set out as deliverables as part of the Annual Service 

Plan.  These actions were derived from the medium-term strategic goals 
highlighted in the Community Risk Management Plan. 

 
The Deputy Chief Fire Officer advised that the report included a summary table of 
the Service’s performance: 

 

Incidents attended 18,841 

Average attendance time 7 min 48 seconds 

Fires attended 5,632 

People lost their lives in ADFs 8 

Accidental dwelling fires (ADFs) 772 

Casualties from ADFs 37 

ADFs prevented from spreading 86% 

Missing person searches (supporting other 

emergency services) 
94 

Gaining entry to property incidents (supporting 
other emergency services) 

914 

Road traffic collisions attended 621 

Home Fire Safety Checks delivered 22,210 

Children and young people received prevention 

education 
110,197 

People took part in road safety education 18,755 

Page 2



Fire safety enforcement notices issued 158 

Businesses prohibited from operating 15 

On-call firefighters recruited 64 

 
The Annual Service Report as now considered by Members highlighted a number 

of key deliverables against the priority areas of: i) people, ii) prevention, 
iii) protection, iv) response and v) value for money related work streams: 
 
i) Valuing our people so they can focus on making Lancashire safer 

 

 Embed the Core Code of Ethics alongside our STRIVE values.  These provide 
guidance on the professional behaviours expected of all our staff to ensure our 
workplace was one where everyone felt valued, included, and able to reach 

their full potential; 

 Focused on developing the capability and resilience of leaders to support their 

staff in achieving their full potential through talent management, promotion 
pathways, and continuous improvement; 

 Recruiting, training, and developing people who could meet the diverse needs 

of the residents of Lancashire and bring diversity of thought and talent into our 
Service was a priority; 

 Delivering firefighter pension changes; 

 Upgrade fire station facilities; 

 A celebration of our people through award ceremonies, Chief Fire Officer 
personal commendations and from individual and organisational recognition at 

national level. 
 
ii) Preventing fires and other emergencies from happening 

 

 Reduce fires and other emergencies in Lancashire’s diverse communities; 

 Improve our Home Fire Safety Check (HFSC) service; 

 Develop prevention services for homes equipped with assistive technology. 

 
iii) Protecting people and property when fires happen 

 

 Transform fire protection and business safety; 

 Introduce Business Fire Safety Checks; 

 Strengthen our fire safety inspection programme to meet evolving standards; 

 Introduce a new automatic fire alarm attendance policy. 

 
iv) Responding to fires and other emergencies quickly and competently 

 

 Review emergency cover incorporating the replacement of the day crewing plus 
duty system; 

 Review special fire appliances and resource provision; 

 Invest in our fleet; 

 Respond to the impacts of climate change; 

 Implement operational learning in response to national events; 

 Optimise emergency cover through improved data including dynamic mobilising 
software. 

 

Page 3



v) Delivering value for money in how we use our resources 

 

 Implement the first stages of our digital strategy; 

 Create digitally enabled fire engines; 

 Install CCTV on fire engines; 

 Replace a number of drill towers. 
 

It was noted that during the previous year the Service set out to strengthen 
community safety in respect of emerging risks affecting Lancashire.   

 
Climate change in particular was having a significant impact on homes, businesses 
and environments, and the risk of flooding and wildfires had increased.  In 

response, the Service had invested in wildfire personal protective equipment (PPE) 
for every firefighter plus additional equipment for specialist wildfire units and 2 new 

all-terrain vehicles were added to the fleet to make it easier to access rural areas 
during extreme weather events.  
 

In addition, collaboration with other emergency services continued to deliver 
improved public services. The Service had attended more incidents than the 

previous year to gain entry to homes where there was a medical emergency and 
had assisted in searching for missing people.  A new collaboration with North West 
Ambulance Service on their community first responder initiative had already seen a 

Lancashire resident benefit from life-saving first aid from a member of LFRS staff 
responding from the workplace.   

 
Business Fire Safety Checks was a new service delivered by operational crews to 
help small and lower risk businesses comply with fire safety laws, following 

significant changes to legislation. This meant dedicated fire safety inspection teams 
could focus on premises where occupants were at a higher risk of harm. 

 
Through consultation, the emergency cover review of fire engines and crewing 
arrangements alongside community risks had identified improvements to reflect the 

most effective and efficient use of resources for the whole of Lancashire. All 39 fire 
stations and 58 fire appliances had been maintained and the number of firefighters 

employed was increasing.  An innovation that was already benefitting Lancashire 
as part of the review was the introduction of dynamic cover software to deploy 
resources. This provided visual data on community risks and emergency cover in 

real-time to inform decision-making.  
 

During the year the Service was proud to offer critical support to people outside of 
Lancashire, as it responded to international emergency events.  
 

It was recognised that behind all the achievements were dedicated people with the 
highest levels of skills and expertise united in a determination to make Lancashire 

safer. 
 
CC O’Toole thought the report to be excellent, covering so many aspects of the 

work undertaken by the Service including international assistance and support.  
The emergency cover review changes (detailed on page 33 of the agenda pack) 

which maintained all 39 fire stations and 58 fire appliances was to be commended 
as this was not the case in other Fire Authorities in the North West.  He commented 
(in relation to pages 25 and 31 of the agenda pack) that he was pleased with the 

Page 4



improved relationship with North West Ambulance Service (NWAS).  This excellent 
collaboration was demonstrated by the first LFRS volunteer First Responder who 

had provided lifesaving care. 
 
CC Shedwick commented that the year in numbers information (on p 26 of the 

agenda pack) demonstrated the breadth of work undertaken. 
 

CC Hennessy thanked officers for the detailed report.  She was pleased that the 
360º appraisal process now included the core code of ethics and a programme of 
staff events related to the code had been so far delivered to 281 members of staff.  

She was proud that the Service had recently received a Silver Award for the Armed 
Forces Covenant. 

 
CC Singleton commented that further to the upgrade to fire station facilities in year 
(page 28 of the agenda pack) he had attended an open day event over the 

weekend at Preston Fire Station.  This was a very well-run event however; the 
building was in need of the forthcoming review.   

 
Resolved: That the Planning Committee noted and endorsed the Annual Service 

Report. 

 

5/23   Serious Violence Duty  

 

 The Assistant Chief Fire Officer introduced Group Manager Kirsty McCreesh who 
presented the report which provided Members with an update on progress against 

the Serious Violence Duty (the Duty).   
 
The Duty was part of the Police, Crime, Sentencing and Courts Act 2022 which 

came into force on 31 January 2023. This new legislation required a range of 
specified authorities to work together to share information and allow them to target 

their interventions. Within the Duty Statutory Guidance it was stated that ideally this 
should be done through existing partnership structures and these structures should 
be used to collaborate and plan to prevent and reduce serious violence within their 

local communities.  
 

The Duty identified the Police, Probation Services, Youth Offending Teams, 
Integrated Care Boards and local authorities in addition to Fire and Rescue 
Authorities as being specified authorities. (Prison and Education Authorities were 

known as Relevant Authorities able to co-operate with Specified Authorities as 
necessary.)   

 
Specified authorities must identify the types of serious violence that occurred in the 
area and, so far as was possible to do so, identify the causes of that violence. To 

do so, specified authorities should undertake an evidence-based analysis of the 
causes of serious violence and use this analysis to develop a local strategic needs 

assessment which should inform the local strategy. The strategy, which specified 
authorities must prepare and implement, should contain bespoke solutions to 
prevent and reduce serious violence in their area.  The Duty did not specify a lead 

organisation however the statutory guidance identified the Police and Crime 
Commissioner as being the lead convener for local partner agencies. It was for the 

specified authorities to come together to decide on the appropriate lead and 
structure of collaboration for their area.  

Page 5



 
At a meeting of the specified authorities on the 5th January 2023 it was agreed that 

the responsibility for the delivery of the Duty would sit with all Lancashire 
Community Safety Partnerships. 
 

It was noted that Lancashire was fortunate to have the Lancashire Violence 
Reduction Network (LVRN), as not all localities throughout the country had a 

Violence Reduction Unit. Through the LVRN, Lancashire had a Serious Violence 
Strategic Needs Assessment and Lancashire Serious Violence Strategy. 
Lancashire Fire and Rescue Service (LFRS) was represented within the LVRN and 

local district needs assessments produced by the Violence Reduction Network 
were included within the district planning process to ensure discharge at a local 

level through targeted risk reduction activities. 
 
It was also noted that the Crest Advisory Board had been commissioned by Home 

Office to conduct a readiness assessment across the country. LFRS had 
contributed to the Lancashire return which aimed to identify barriers and areas 

requiring additional support as well as progress across the country in comparison 
to other localities. 
 

LFRS had signed a Lancashire Partnership agreement and would be represented 
at a newly formed Lancashire Serious Violence and Community Safety Board.  
 

Lancashire Fire and Rescue Service 

The Duty guidance recognised that Fire and Rescue Services were established in 

engaging with local communities to promote fire safety as well as wider models of 
community and individual engagement to support citizenship, community cohesion 
and direct support to vulnerable individuals and communities. Therefore, work with 

young people and safeguarding, in addition to fire reduction strategies such as the 
sector’s work to reduce deliberate fires, should be recognised as part of the Duty. 

 
LFRS had an established Prince’s Trust and Fire Cadet offering. The Prince’s Trust 
worked in partnership with LFRS, working towards a shared vision that would 

contribute to better outcomes for young people and local communities. LFRS had 
one of the strongest Prince’s Trust offerings across all other Fire and Rescue 

Services in the country. Prince’s Trust was used as a case study within the 
statutory guidance for responsible authorities, produced by Home Office to 
demonstrate how Fire and Rescue Services engagement can strengthen protective 

factors and allow opportunities for positive behaviour change.  
 

LFRS also delivered education packages in schools.  This was offered to all 
schools across Lancashire in years’ 2 and 6 with a comprehensive uptake. LFRS 
also picked up tertiary prevention work for example Arson Threat Referrals, an 

intervention session delivered to young fire setters (FIRES) and bespoke work with 
Youth Offending Teams.  

 
Safeguarding was a core function of LFRS, working across all levels and in all 
areas to support, and in some cases lead risk reduction services to those identified 

as vulnerable and at risk from exploitation or abuse. LFRS was represented at 
Local Authority Safeguarding Boards which was recognised within the Duty. 

 
 

Page 6



National Fire Chiefs Council  

It was noted that during the consultation period for the Duty, the National Fire 

Chiefs Council (NFCC) held a number of meetings with the Home Office to ensure 
the role of the Fire and Rescue Service was fully realised as part of the Duty. 
NFCC released a paper in November 2022 presented by the NFCC Prevention 

Lead, CFO Neil Odin.  
 

NFCC identified the primary role for Fire and Rescue Services in the Duty to be the 
well-established work that was already undertaken with Children and Young People 
and the Duty was referenced within the NFCC Early Intervention Implementation 

Framework. Existing safeguarding work and arson risk reduction was also 
referenced as being key to Fire and Rescue Services involvement in the Duty.      

 
In response to a question from CC Shedwick regarding membership of the 
Lancashire Community Safety Partnerships, GM McCreesh advised this would 

normally be the relevant Station Manager or Community Fire Safety Team Leader. 
 

In response to a question from CC Hennessy regarding membership of the newly 
formed Lancashire Serious Violence and Community Safety Board, GM McCreesh 
advised that the Chair was the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner with 

Area Manager Hamer representing LFRS alongside GM Liam Wilson who was now 
the single point of contact for the Service.   In response to a further question from 
CC Hennessy, GM McCreesh advised that partnership work presented an 

opportunity to raise awareness of the breadth of work undertaken.  In response to a 
further question from CC Hennessy, GM McCreesh advised that cadet units were 

located in conjunction with partnerships and were aligned to risk with recruitment 
currently ongoing for a unit at Skelmersdale. 
 

CC Singleton commended the work of the Service in relation to the Prince’s Trust 
programme where the focus was on improved opportunities for young people. 

 
Resolved: That the Planning Committee noted and endorsed the ongoing actions. 

 

6/23   Blue Light Collaboration Board Update  

 

 The Deputy Chief Fire Officer introduced Area Manager Tom Powell and Acting 
Area Manager Jonny Ashton. 
 

The Deputy Chief Fire Officer advised that the report updated on progress of the 
ongoing workstreams that were being progressed under the Blue Light 

Collaboration Board.  The workstreams were being managed effectively through 
both the Strategic and Tactical Boards and recently, Lancashire Fire and Rescue 
Service (LFRS) had introduced a Station Manager role to support and deliver the 

key workstreams which were: - 
 
i) Missing Persons (missing from home) 

 
Existing collaboration had continued to be a success.  While the number of 

requests for attendance had decreased over the past few years LFRS had 
supported Lancashire Constabulary (LanCon) with a number of high-profile cases; 

where support had been provided from the initial search on day one up to, and 
including, the inquest.    

Page 7



  
The main objective of the project was now to improve even further the existing 

collaboration between LFRS and LanCon by providing support where it was most 
required. The aim was to enhance specialist teams from several ‘on-call’ and 
specialist crews in Lancashire where the locality was close to ‘hot spots’ where 

people were known to go missing from home and, where LanCon could often have 
limited resources thus allowing LFRS specialist search teams to search familiar 

ground in a reduced timeframe. 
  
The training ensured that specialist teams developed an increased knowledge of 

what was required by LanCon in the management of a missing from home case 
and the importance of intelligence gathering, record keeping where an area had 

been searched, ensuring a crime scene wasn’t contaminated and enhancing the 
working relationships, at ground level, between the two services. 
 

The Deputy Chief Fire Officer added that over the weekend the Service responded 
to a missing person incident using the very latest drone technology which featured 

an underwater sonar device. Thankfully the missing person was found safe and 
well. 
 
ii) Estates and Co-location 
 

This was a longer-term work stream with interdependencies as there were several 

internal projects within Lancashire Constabulary to review current building stock. 
This included Lancashire Constabulary headquarters, and various police stations.    

Property leads from all three agencies had met on 22 June 2023 with a review of 
existing work and future opportunities discussed. This would now become a bi-
monthly meeting to ensure work was progressed. As part of this work North West 

Ambulance Service (NWAS), LanCon and LFRS had shared information with 
regards facilities and estates management linked to current and future workstreams 

to enable a more cohesive approach to future proofing opportunities within the 
estate’s portfolios. LFRS had also progressed work with the potential to re-
negotiate leases and licences at Lytham and St Annes fire stations for the next 

three years with LanCon. In addition to this, the Service would ensure that all Blue 
Light partners were included in the scoping work being undertaken in relation to the 

Preston area review.  
 
iii) First Responder 

 

A phased approached was agreed in terms of volunteers signing up to the scheme. 

Phase 1 was being rolled out to non-operational LFRS staff, such as Community 
Fire Safety and other Green Book members of staff.  Phase 2 would consider the 
option to broaden the scope to roll out to Grey Book operational staff including Flexi 

Duty Officers, all on a voluntary basis. 
 

Progress on phase 1 had resulted in 1 non-operational member of LFRS, 
responding to category 1 incidents, and who had already provided lifesaving care 
while responding.  A further 4 members of staff had successfully passed their 

interviews and Enhanced DBS checks and were currently awaiting suitable training 
dates before being fully on board which was expected to be within the next 3 

months. 
 

Page 8



A NWAS application was used to mobilise First Responders who could accept or 
decline the notification. The information that was then held by NWAS enabled 

LFRS to monitor the data provided by the reporting system to ensure suitable 
provisions such as welfare arrangements were in place to support staff, post 
incident(s). A more in-depth analysis would be completed once the next 4 members 

of staff were on board. The findings from that analysis would form options to 
progress to phase 2 of the project. 

 
Further discussion would take place with LanCon to review if there were any 
suitable non-operational roles that could be added as First Responders. The 

Deputy Chief Fire Officer advised of an error in the report and confirmed that it was 
non-operational staff who attended cardiac arrests alongside NWAS therefore 

collaboration to that effect was already taking place.   
 
iv) Leadership Development  

 
Work was currently ongoing in Phase 1 for scoping further opportunities to 

collaborate. LFRS had identified 3 individuals who had been nominated to take part 
in the “Inside Out” leadership programme that was being led by LanCon, and this 
would hopefully come to fruition towards the end of 2023. This would then enable a 

review of the programme with a view to further expanding the offer across the 
organisation. 
  

Phase 2 of the project would look to explore opportunities to offer places to external 
partners within LFRS delivered ILM courses and some of the “softer skill” courses 

that embed and reinforce effective leadership and raise self-awareness.  The 
ongoing work would aim to realise efficiencies and help build professional working 
relationships across the Blue Light Services. 

 
v) Command Units  

 

The aim of this project was to establish and deliver additional collaborative uses of 
the command units in LFRS to support effective multi-agency working among 

emergency responders. The key objectives were to improve operational 
effectiveness and in line with LFRS’ mission; ‘Making Lancashire Safer’. 

 
LFRS was currently rolling out a small command unit with 2 further large command 
units in build as part of a previously agreed capital vehicle replacement project. It 

was anticipated the two larger units would be in service by October 2023. It was 
expected that the initial benefits to be realised would be technological advances 

that would further develop information sharing and situational awareness aligned to 
improving and embedding the Joint Emergency Services Interoperability Principles. 
Further scoping and development will be overseen by the Blue Light Collaboration 

Board to ensure opportunities for joint working were effectively co-ordinated and 
delivered. 

 
CC Shedwick commented that at the Preston Open Day over the weekend, 
alongside the Police and North West Ambulance Service he had met with Mountain 

Rescue.  AM Powell advised that Mountain Rescue was a voluntary organisation 
that had previously provided support at incidents of flooding to transport people and 

goods. 
 

Page 9



In response to a question from CC Hennessy, AM Ashton advised that strategically 
and tactically across the blue light sector there was a lot of activity which was 

working well.  The Deputy Chief Fire Officer added that at a strategic level the 
Executive Board had met with Police colleagues the previous week talking through 
opportunities to work together and better learn from each other.   

 
In response to a question from Cllr Hugo regarding the decrease of requests from 

LanCon in relation to missing persons, AM Ashton advised that LanCon had their 
own drone capability and LFRS offered resources (ie: drones / dogs) as required to 
assist wherever possible.   

 
Resolved: That the Planning Committee noted the report. 

 

7/23   His Majesty's Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue Services 

(HMICFRS)  
 

 The Deputy Chief Fire Officer updated Members regarding His Majesty’s 

Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue Services (HMICFRS) activity 
and LFRS planning arrangements. 
 
Values and culture in fire and rescue services  

HMICFRS had published a spotlight report on 30 March 2023 which focused on the 
values and culture of all 44 fire and rescue services in England.  Since the start of 

inspections in 2018, HMICFRS reported that they repeatedly found evidence of 
poor values, culture and behaviour, including bullying, harassment and 

discrimination in many services.  This led to recommendation that the sector should 
have a code of ethics, which was introduced in 2021.  The spotlight report was the 
first time HMICFRS looked in such depth at the cumulative issue of values and 

culture across all services.  They particularly focused on issues that had been seen 
in more than half (at least 26) of services and which were having a detrimental 

impact across the sector. These included: i) bullying, harassment, and 
discrimination; ii) lack of fairness and diversity; and iii) reporting and handling of 
concerns, including allegations of misconduct.  The report examined what was 

working well, what needed to change and the barriers to making improvements.  
HMICFRS found that while some services had made improvements since their first 

round of inspections in respect of values and culture, many needed to do more.   
 
The report contained 35 recommendations, which were aimed at chief fire officers, 

chief constables, and national bodies and a request to implement the relevant 
recommendations by stated deadline(s).  Fire and rescue authorities were also 

asked to note that fire and rescue services were required to update HMICFRS on 
how the recommendations were being actioned. Lancashire Fire and Rescue 
Service had provided HMICFRS with an update on the implementation of the 

recommendations, including a short self-assessment narrative per 
recommendation.  HMICFRS would be monitoring these recommendations closely. 

 
Positive Practice Portal 

The National Fire Chiefs Council’s (NFCC) Positive Practice Portal launched on 10 

May 2023.  The Positive Practice Portal would share case studies and examples of 
positive practice captured by HMICFRS, enabling fire and rescue services to learn 

from each other and improve their services for the benefit of the public. The 
Positive Practice Portal provided details about interventions, which had been 

Page 10



developed to address a particular need, concern or organisational change and 
were recognised by HMICFRS as innovative or promising practice.  These 

practices covered areas such as organisational culture. 
 
HMICFRS Spring Data Collection 

In accordance with timescales LFRS submitted the spring data collection in June 
2023. 

 
Round 3 Overview 

In the next round of inspections, ‘Round 3’, HMICFRS would continue to inspect 

how effective and efficient Fire and Rescue Services (FRSs) were at carrying out 
their principal functions of fire safety, firefighting, and responding to road traffic 

collisions and other emergencies, whilst taking a more in depth, robust, look at 
certain aspects.  As Members were already aware, HMICFRS had moved away 
from a tranche system to a more rolling approach. It was anticipated that this would 

ensure publication of the reports would be sooner after the inspection had 
concluded, which would enable FRSs to be able to react to feedback in a timelier 

way.  Also, as previously reported, there were now five gradings with the new 
judgment of ‘adequate’. Whilst it was not set in stone, indications suggested that 
where a service had an identified ‘area for improvement’, it had the potential to 

move a ‘good’ grade to ‘adequate’. 
 
Round 3 started in February 2023 and inspection activity was now underway for the 

first 12 services in the programme.  Over a two-year period HMICFRS would 
inspect all 44 FRSs in England, using a similar methodology to the Round 2 

inspections. 
 
Whilst it was still not certain, planning assumptions remained that Lancashire would 

likely be inspected either late 2023 or early 2024 (the first 15 FRSs on the list had 
been given inspection dates up to September, and LFRS were 28 th on the list.)  

The running order may be subject to change, which could be due to reasons 
including changes in performance or risk.  Services affected by this would be 
informed of any planned changes at the earliest opportunity. 

 
The newly formed Organisational Assurance Team within the Service Improvement 

Department would track progress from our previous inspection, monitor national 
themes and prepare LFRS for the round 3 inspection. AM Powell was LFRS’ 
Service Liaison Officer. 

 
In response to Member questions the Deputy Chief Fire Officer advised that one of 

the HMICFRS national recommendations from the spotlight report was for staff to 
have access to an independent reporting line to report anything anonymously.  He 
confirmed that following researching a number of options, Safecall (an anonymous 

whistleblowing hotline) was now in place at LFRS.   
 

CC Dad queried how many of the 35 recommendations were in place at LFRS.  In 
response, AM Powell advised that 20 of the 35 recommendations related to Chief 
Fire Officers to implement within recommended deadlines.  He confirmed there was 

a HMICFRS action plan that the Service needed to feed into and LFRS had 
reported back on the recommendations.  The remaining 15 recommendations were 

for other bodies and / or were reliant on future regulatory changes and with some 
deadline dates of 2024 and beyond.   

Page 11



 
Further to the earlier discussion CC Hennessy requested that the action plan on 

the implementation of the recommendations including the short self-assessment 
narrative be brought to a future meeting.  In response, the Deputy Chief Fire Officer 
advised that he would ask the Head of Human Resources to bring a report to a 

future Authority meeting.  
 
Resolved: That the Planning Committee noted and endorsed the report. 

 

8/23   Measuring Progress - Fire Engine Availability - KPI Review  
 

 The Assistant Chief Fire Officer presented the report.  He advised that further to 

scrutiny of key performance indicators (KPI) by Members of the CFA Performance 
Committee, the Service was asked to reflect upon the ongoing suitability of the 
current ‘Fire Engine Availability’ KPI’s in particular with reference to the on-call 

measurement.   
 

Lancashire Fire and Rescue Service (LFRS) currently had one of the most 
challenging targets for availability of on-call fire engines of any fire and rescue 
service in the country and, whilst having a high aspirational target maintained focus 

on securing on-call fire engine availability, for some time now the Service had fallen 
short of delivering against this highly ambitious target.   
 

Work had been undertaken to compare our KPI’s with those used in other Services, 
with the ambition being to provide Members of the Performance Committee with a 

suitable KPI which would better reflect holistic fire cover across the county of 
Lancashire, considering both wholetime and on-call availability. 
 

The Service had 3 KPI measurements pertaining to appliance availability across 
the entire fleet:  

 
i) KPI 3.3 for Total Fire Engine Availability (which combined wholetime and on-

call and was for information only);  

ii) KPI 3.3.1 for Fire Engine Availability – Wholetime Shift System (which had a 
target of 99.5%); and  

iii) KPI 3.3.2 for Fire Engine Availability – On-Call Shift System (which had an 
aspirational target of 95%). 

 

The On-Call appliance availability target was a demanding 95% and whilst having 
such a high aspirational target maintained on-call availability as a continuing 

Service priority, setting unrealistic targets could have a negative impact on 
performance and could fail to recognise the improvements that some stations were 
making to availability, as overall they continued to fall short of the objective.  

 
Members noted that 32 of the 58 LFRS pumps were crewed by on-call firefighters.  

Many of these appliances provided fire cover in lower-risk, rural areas, whilst others 
provide a secondary layer of response to that provided by wholetime crews in 
urban areas of the county.  The Service presently measured the availability of on-

call appliances against the same 95% aspirational target across the county, 
irrespective of demand, risk levels or a wholetime resource being within that station 

area. 
 

Page 12



Nationally, on-call availability continued to be a challenge as highlighted by the 
National Fire Chiefs Council and His Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and  

Fire and Rescue Services and extensive work was ongoing both locally and 
nationally to address some of the key issues.  Within the Service, a significant 
volume of work was ongoing which aimed to improve recruitment, training and 

development, retention, and broadening the utilisation of on-call staff; all balanced 
against realistic role expectations given the limitations on available training hours 

each week. 
 
Having considered a number of options, a proposal for Service KPI change was 

presented which would provide the right balance of oversight and ambition for fire 
engines crewed by both wholetime and on-call firefighters, supplemented by further 

internal KPI’s for use by local managers to drive contractual performance and 
ensure value for money. 
 

The proposal was to measure the ‘First Fire Engine Availability (wholetime and on-
call)’ across the 39 risk areas within Lancashire.  It was noted that the dynamic 

cover tool software enabled LFRS to dynamically move resources according to risk 
and demand, optimising ability to meet published response times.  Where 
operational incidents arose and mobilised appliances created gaps in fire cover, the 

system managed cover across the county based on the known risk.   
 
The proposal sought to report performance based on how effectively fire cover was 

provided across the 39 fire stations (risk areas) at a fire station level, rather than by 
each of the 58 fire engines.  It would report on the combined availability of the 

primary asset at each of the 39 locations in percentage terms, whether that be a 
wholetime or on-call appliance.  This aligned with the Response Standard KPI 
approach which measured first pump response times and gave a true indication of 

the speed of response and first intervention provided across the 39 risk areas. 
 

Based on the last 4 full years’ data, KPI 3.3 (combined wholetime and on-call 
availability) would be represented as:  
 

Overall 2019/20, 95.77% (wholetime, 99.51% and on-call, 90.93%) 
Overall 2020/21, 96.51% (wholetime, 99.35% and on-call, 92.83%) 

Overall 2021/22, 91.65% (wholetime, 99.34% and on-call, 81.71%) 
Overall 2022/23, 89.60% (wholetime, 99.35% and on-call, 76.97%) 
 

The deterioration in performance was largely as a result of declining on-call 
availability.  Going forward, the Service would continue to apply focus to 

recruitment activities centred around all on-call units, not just those which 
comprised the basis of the KPI calculation and to underpin the proposed Service 
level KPI, an incremental 2% per annum approach to increasing on-call availability 

would be implemented on a local level, starting from the current baseline position. 
 

In response to a question raised by Cllr Hugo regarding whether analysis of data 
pre-covid would change the pattern of availability the Assistant Chief Fire Officer 
explained that availability was higher than now but not as high as during covid 

(given at that time people were working from home and / or were furloughed from 
their primary employment and were therefore more available).  He added that the 

target was aspirational and not realistic at the present time and the Service would 
be measured against the targets set. 

Page 13



 
Cllr Hugo commented that she understood the reasoning for lowering the target 

and queried how a 90% target compared against other Services.  In response the 
Assistant Chief Fire Officer advised that research indicated typical levels for other 
Services ranged between 85% to 90%.  

 
CC O’Toole queried the main reason for the lack of on-call availability.  In 

response, the Assistant Chief Fire Officer advised that if an on-call firefighter left 
the organisation the impact was felt straight away.  Availability hinged then on 
attracting, training and introducing new people to become safe, competent 

firefighters which took time.  After recruitment, it could be 6 months before 
breathing apparatus training was undertaken and to then go onto driving appliance 

training or becoming an officer in charge could take years.  These were the types of 
issues that the Service was focussed on improving.  The Deputy Chief Fire Officer 
added that nationally over the last decade on-call firefighters had reduced by 25%.  

LFRS staff had declined by 11% from 444 firefighters to just short of 400 however it 
was the amount of hours those staff gave that was 25% less because people 

wanted a better work-life balance.  CC O’Toole was pleased the lack of availability 
was not due to mechanical issues with fire appliances. 
 

CC Hennessy stated that she would much sooner aim high to achieve high and 
asked what the views of staff were.  In response the Assistant Chief Fire Officer 
advised that Station, Group and Unit Managers were working exceptionally hard to 

maintain availability however, despite all their efforts it was unhelpful that the KPI 
was consistently in exception which could have a negative and de-motivational 

psychological effect.  A lot of work was being done to support on-call availability.  
The Service was looking at every facet of the duty system to make it more efficient 
and improved but the numbers demonstrated the level of exception in recent years 

and that ultimately the Service would be measured by how successfully it achieved 
the targets it set itself. 

 
CC Hennessy queried whether lowering the target to 92.5% would be a better 
target as it remained aspirational.  In response the Deputy Chief Fire Officer 

advised that no other Service had a target of 95%.  The ACFO stated that the 
proposal for the 90% overall target was more achievable and would be 

supplemented by a local 2% in-year target increase for on-call units where low 
availability featured.  As such that the KPI could be reviewed annually with a view 
to an upward increase. 

 
CC Rigby thanked officers for making Members aware of the challenges currently 

faced. 
 
CC Singleton MOVED the recommendation in the report and proposed that the 

new indicator be reviewed annually.  This was SECONDED by CC Shedwick who 
commented that Members were well placed in their communities to assist raising 

awareness of the on-call firefighter role. 
 

At the request of the Chair of the Committee, CC Clarke, the meeting Clerk held a 

recorded vote and the names of Members who voted for or against the Motion and 
those who abstained are set out below:  

 
 

Page 14



For (7) 
S Clarke, J Singleton, G Baker, J Hugo, D O’Toole, P Rigby and J Shedwick 

 
Against (1) 
N Hennessy 

 
Abstained (1) 

M Dad 
 
The motion was therefore CARRIED and it was: 

 
Resolved: That the Planning Committee 

 

i) approved a combined KPI for first pump availability of wholetime and on-call 
fire engines across the 39 stations in Lancashire with a revised overall 

availability target of 90%, which would be reviewed annually; and 
ii) approved the removal of sub-indicators 3.3.1 and 3.3.2 which would be 

encompassed in the above new KPI acknowledging that monitoring would 
continue locally by Service Delivery Managers. 

 

9/23   Measuring Progress - 1st Pump Critical Fire and Critical Special Service 
Response Standards - Key Performance Indicator Review  

 

 The Assistant Chief Fire Officer presented the report.  He advised that Lancashire 
Fire and Rescue Service (LFRS) currently set itself one of the most challenging 

targets for critical incident response times in the country.  
Having a high aspirational target reflected the priority and importance of responding 
to incidents in a suitable time, and whilst LFRS response times remained 

exceptionally fast in comparison to many other Fire and Rescue Services, the 
standard was not presently achieved.  As such, Members of the Performance 

Committee had requested that the Service consider the ongoing suitability of this 
KPI. 
 

Members were aware that UK Fire and Rescue Services set their own response 
standards in line with their Community Risk Management Plan and were then held 

to account against those standards.  It was noted that there were different methods 
of measuring the response, primarily from time of call or from time of mobilisation, 
through to the time that the appliances booked as being ‘in attendance’ at the 

incident.   
 

The two key methods used by fire services in the UK were “Crew Response Time” 
and “Total Response Time”.  It was also noted that LFRS previously used the 
“Crew Response Time” standard (which measured from the point of mobilisation). 

However, in 2015/16 (and to present a more accurate position) this was reviewed 
and updated to a “Total Response Time” method whereby 60 seconds were added 

to each risk level to account for call handling time by North West Fire Control 
(NWFC).   
 

LFRS used a median average of call handling time and the data used for this 
analysis showed the median call times within Lancashire for critical incidents varied 

between 1 minute 2 seconds and 1 minute 23 seconds and that the median was 73 
seconds.  Therefore, when considering that the updated response time factored in 

Page 15



only 60 seconds for call handling time, the figures represented a tightening of the 
standard of between 2 – 23 seconds from 2015/16 onwards. 

 
Also, when comparing LFRS with other Fire and Rescue Services (FRS), the 90% 
target and the reaction times set by LFRS were amongst the most challenging set 

by any UK FRS, particularly those within the Family Grouping (considered by 
Members at appendix 1).  The other FRS’ within the ‘predominantly urban’ category 

had response standards which were slower than those of LFRS even when call 
handling was often not factored into the overall response times. 
 

LFRS was currently categorised as ‘predominantly urban’ though it had a diverse 
demographic with both highly urbanised and remote rural areas.  Comparing LFRS 

with other ‘predominantly urban’ services (considered by Members at appendix 2) it 
was evident that Lancashire was significantly larger geographically than the 
majority of the services in the category (but with a relatively low average population 

density / km²).  It was not surprising therefore that when comparing average 
attendance times of ‘predominantly urban’ services for primary fires (considered by 

Members at appendix 3) Lancashire was slower than the national average for this 
category.  However, LFRS was performing better than the overall national average 
(by 1 minute 5 seconds) and had also showed an improvement since 2016 which 

contradicted the national trend of increased response times.  This reflected the 
work which had gone into this field and the benefits of technological innovations 
that had been delivered by the Service, such as the ‘pre-alerting’ of fire engines.  

Since 2016/17 the Service had improved average response times by 21 seconds 
whereas the overall family group had only improved by 3 seconds.  Furthermore, it 

could be argued that given Lancashire was the largest county within the family 
group, with a low population density per km² it was more similar to ‘significantly 
rural’ FRS which had a notably higher average response time of 9 minutes and 58 

seconds. 
 

The 2 most common approaches for measuring performance were: i) by 
percentage of incidents achieved within target (ie: life critical incidents attended 
within 10 minutes on 80% of occasions); or ii) by average time to attend incidents 

under target (ie: life critical incidents attended within an average of 10 minutes).  
Although the 2 metrics appeared to be very similar, they provided significantly 

different results. Of the 2 methods used HMICFRS identified that, 57% used the 
first method and 32% used the second with the other 11% a variety of other 
approaches.  HMICFRS had not made a judgement on which method to use but 

they had praised a FRS that had used the second method.  The disadvantage of 
the first method was that it offered a binary pass or fail result whereby the second 

method provided for an average and was proposed to be more transparent for 
understanding by our communities and therefore a better overall representation of 
Service performance. 

 
Changes to reporting 

KPI 3.1 – Critical Fires 

 
LFRS currently used the first metric and aimed to achieve its response standards 

on 90% of occasions.  A table in the report set out how successful the Service had 
been in successive years from 2015/16 to 2022/23 for each of the very high, high, 

medium and low risk categories. The flaw in that approach was it did not provide a 
measure of by how much time the response had or had not been achieved.   

Page 16



 
The report also set out a table using the same data (using a mean average as this 

was considered the most accurate and transparent approach) to show an average 
response time which clearly identified how effectively the Service was achieving 
each standard as set out below: 

 
Average Response Times / Target 

 

Year 
Low 

(12 mins) 
Medium 

(10) 
High 

(8) 
Very High 

(6) 

2015/2016 08:42 06:51 06:24 05:53 

2016/2017 08:42 07:01 06:01 05:55 

2017/2018 08:40 06:48 06:17 05:41 

2018/2019 08:52 06:51 06:17 05:59 

2019/2020 08:15 06:26 06:02 06:07 

2020/2021 08:27 06:16 05:48 05:31 

2021/2022 08:52 06:25 05:50 05:44 

2022/2023 08:33 06:26 06:17 05:35 
 

Furthermore, Members were reassured that regardless of response time ‘success’ 
or ‘failure’ against target, robust operational assurance and debriefing processes 
were embedded to ensure the Service had a learning and development approach 

to operational response arrangements 
 
KPI 3.2 – Critical Special Service Response 

 
The Critical Special Service Response target was set at 13 minutes and was not 

affected by risk rating.  The current method of measuring performance showed that 

LFRS had only once achieved the 90% target within the period of data used for the 

analysis (2015-2023).  However, the following table in the report showed that by 

applying the same average response metric to critical special service incidents, the 

Service could be seen to be performing much better than the current binary method 

and provided a more accurate reflection of service performance: 

 
Critical Special Service Incidents - 1st Pump Response 

 

 Year Pass rate 
Mean 

 Average Response 

2015/2016 86.6% 08:53 

2016/2017 86.8% 08:51 

2017/2018 83.9% 09:35 

2018/2019 89.8% 08:40 

2019/2020 88.9% 08:35 

2020/2021 89.4% 08:21 

2021/2022 90.0% 08:11 

2022/2023 89.6% 08:17 
 

CC O’Toole was pleased that call handling times were included in the data which 

he believed should be consistent across all FRS to compare performance 
effectively.  In response to a query from CC O’Toole regarding whether call 

Page 17



handling time had improved due to the benefit of North West Fire Control Centre 
(NWFC), the Assistant Chief Fire Officer advised that performance had improved 

significantly with the percentage of calls handled within standard now circa 90%  
and there were many additional ancillary benefits.  For example, at the most recent 
Performance Committee meeting a graph had been shared which detailed 

incidents ‘not mobilised to’, as a result of effective call challenge, which ultimately 
improved FRS productivity by preventing unnecessary mobilisations and 

interruptions to crews’ activities (Business Fire Safety Checks, Hone Fire Safety 
Checks, gathering risk information and training).   
 

In response to a question raised by CC Singleton regarding the family group 
comparator information not including call handling time across all FRS (appendix 

1), the Assistant Chief Fire Officer advised that if 1 minute was removed from 
LFRS’ figures (the call handling element) then our response standards and times 
achieved, would look even more favourable. 

 
In response to a question raised by CC Hennessy, the Assistant Chief Fire Officer 

advised that the FRS praised by HMICFRS had used the method of reporting by 
average time to attend incidents however, this did not include a call handling time.  
In response to further questions from CC Hennessy, the Assistant Chief Fire Officer 

added that the proposal was for the method of reporting to change only, and not 
the target times for speed of response, in order to improve transparency.  When 
asked by CC Hennessy whether the proposal provided ‘best value’ the ACFO 

confirmed that in his view the speed of response provided outstanding value to 
Lancashire’s communities.  He confirmed that the response standards against each 

category of risk would remain the same (at: very high, 6 minutes; high, 8 minutes; 
medium, 10 minutes and low risk, 12 minutes). 
 
Resolved: That the Planning Committee noted the content of the paper and 

agreed to change the method of reporting for both KPI 3.1 – Critical Fire Response 

- First Fire Engine Attendance and KPI 3.2 – Critical Special Service Response - 
First Fire Engine Attendance to ‘average response times’. 
 

10/23   Measuring Progress - Addition of Key Performance Indicator for Business 

Fire Safety Checks  
 

 The Assistant Chief Fire Officer presented the report.  He advised that Business 
Fire Safety Checks (BFSC) were inspections of lower risk commercial buildings 

undertaken by operational firefighters.  They typically resulted in low level 
interventions, however where deficiencies identified were more significant, they 

could be followed up with a subsequent visit by a Business Safety Adviser (mid-
level intervention) or a higher-level intervention, such as enforcement under the 
Fire Safety Order by a Fire Safety Inspector. 

 
Lancashire presently had over 65,000 commercial buildings.  A large proportion of 

those were lower risk buildings which would have been unlikely to make the 
inspection programme for Fire Safety Inspectors thereby delivering BFSC’s the 
Service was effectively addressing the built environment risk more broadly whilst 

improving our operational crews’ knowledge of building construction and how 
buildings should behave when involved in fire.  

 
 

Page 18



During 2022 the Service began rollout of training to operational crews on the 
delivery of Building Fire Safety Checks (BFSCs). During the first year, crews began 

delivering the service as and when they had completed their training and as such, 
the Service completed over 2,500 BFSC’s in the first part-year.  Training rollout has 
since been completed across all wholetime stations and local targets had now been 

applied within each district, based upon risks identified within the district’s local risk 
management plan. 

 
The Service proposed to include a new Key Performance Indicator (KPI) into the 
quarterly performance report ‘Measuring Progress’ to ensure that Members and the 

public were suitably appraised. 
 
Resolved: that the content of the report be noted and the recommendation to 

implement a new Key Performance Indicator for Business Fire Safety Checks be 
approved. 

 

11/23   Date of Next Meeting  

 

 The next meeting of the Committee would be held on Monday 20 November 2023 

at 1000 hours in the main Conference Room at Lancashire Fire and Rescue 

Service Headquarters, Fulwood. 
 
Further meeting dates were noted for 5 February 2024 and agreed for 15 July 

2024. 
 

 

M Nolan 
Clerk to CFA 

LFRS HQ 
Fulwood 
 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Lancashire Combined Fire Authority 

Planning Committee 

Meeting to be held on 20 November 2023 
 

Emergency Cover Review 

 

Contact for further information – Deputy Chief Fire Officer Steve Healey 
Tel: 01772 866801 

 

Executive Summary 

This report provides an update on the Emergency Cover Review (ECR) 2022 
implementation. 
 

Additionally, it provides information regarding when changes are anticipated to 
take place, the work that is ongoing and has been completed to date. 

 
Recommendation 

Planning Committee is requested to note and endorse the update. 

 

 

Background 

 

Lancashire Fire and Rescue Service (LFRS) is required to review emergency response 
arrangements periodically to ensure that provision remains effective and consummate 

with our dynamic risk profile. This process is a robust assessment of historic data and 
emergent risk and is delivered in the format of an Emergency Cover Review (ECR).  
 

The changes identified in the ECR 2022 reflect the most effective and efficient use of 
resources for the whole of Lancashire. Lancashire’s Combined Fire Authority agreed all 

the proposed changes on 19 December 2022. The changes will result in LFRS: 
 

 Maintaining all 39 fire stations and 58 fire appliances; 

 Maintaining our outstanding response standards; 

 Creating an increase in overall firefighter jobs by eight 

 
An ECR implementation plan was developed with five key workstreams; updates on the 

workstreams can be found below: 
 

Introduce more resilient and flexible crewing arrangements 

The Service had hoped to introduce more flexible crewing arrangements if agreement 

could be reached with trade unions. However, the proposed flexible wholetime duty 
system was not agreed by the trade union. The Service subsequently proposed a trial 
of flexible rota management and leave arrangements; however an agreement could not 

be reached. Therefore, changes of duty systems at some stations will still take place 
but with the re-introduction of the 2-2-4 wholetime duty system as opposed to flexible 
wholetime. 

Page 21

Agenda Item 4



 

Engagement sessions have taken place with all the members of staff affected. 
Implementation of the changes to crewing arrangements have been led by people’s 
preferences in terms of the duty system they wish to work, subject to skill requirements 

and the demands of the Service. Members of staff permanently employed on Day 
Crewing Plus (DCP) stations have been offered a role at an alternative DCP station or a 

position at their current station depending on their preference. Some members of staff 
have secured promotion opportunities. The Service continue to work with members of 
staff who are currently temporary on DCP to identify a suitable posting. 

A training needs analysis has been completed and training is being commissioned and 
delivered to meet the needs of staff. 

Property alterations at Morecambe, Fleetwood and Skelmersdale are currently being 
planned to accommodate an increase in staff at those stations. 

It is anticipated that the go live date for implementation of the change of duty systems 

or establishment numbers will be 1 March 2024. All changes with the exception of 
Penwortham will take place at the same time:  

 Morecambe, Fleetwood and Skelmersdale (changing from DCP to 2-2-4 
Wholetime) increasing establishment numbers from 14 to 24 

 St Annes (changing from DCP to Flexible Day Crewing) reducing establishment 
numbers from 14 to 13 

 Hyndburn, South Shore and Lancaster (remaining 2-2-4 Wholetime) reducing 

establishment numbers from 28 to 24 

 Darwen, Rawtenstall, Nelson and Bispham (remaining DCP) reducing 

establishment numbers from 14 to 13  

 Fulwood, Bacup, Ormskirk and Leyland (remaining Flexible Day Crewing) 

reducing from 14 to 13 

 Penwortham will remain as DCP whilst the Preston area review is carried out, 
the establishment number will reduce from 14 to 13 in line with other DCP 

stations 
 

Optimise emergency cover through dynamic cover software 

The dynamic cover software is now in use in LFRS, both within the Command Support 
Room at Service Headquarters and through the mobile devices of all Flexi Duty 
Officers. The software has been used successfully during a number of large-scale 

incidents and periods of high incident activity to move resources according to the risk. 

The next phase of this project is to embed the software and its use at North West Fire 
Control (NWFC). A standalone facility is to be made available on the Lancashire pod at 

NWFC so that Control Room Operators can start to use the software. 
 

Strengthen our response to climate change emergencies 

Investing in Four Fire Appliances with Off-Road Capabilities 

The Service is currently finalising the last stage of evaluation for the first large fire 
appliance with off-road capabilities and a contract award is expected by the end of 

November 2023. It is anticipated that this appliance will be delivered to LFRS within the 
next 12 months.  

Page 22



 

The smaller fire appliance will be explored once the contract for the large fire appliance 
is awarded. The procurement of this vehicle is anticipated to be quicker and is also 
expected to be in Service within the next 12 months. Both vehicles will then be 

evaluated prior to the purchase of two further vehicles (one large and one small).  

Introduce Flood Water Incident Managers and Flood Water Tactical Advisors  

Eight flexi duty officers have been trained as Flood Water Incident Managers. These 
officers will be informed of any incidents within the water or large area flooding, and 
they will either attend the incident or provide advice remotely depending on the nature 

of the incident. 
 

Two Flood Water Tactical Advisors are yet to be trained as this is a nationally run 
accredited course and LFRS is awaiting availability. 
 

Strengthen firefighting and rescue capabilities in high-rise and commercial 

buildings 

Introduce a 45m Aerial Ladder Platform (ALP) 

Our largest ever ALP is currently in build and is on track for delivery in January 2024. 

There will then be a period of familiarisation and training for operational crews prior to 
the appliance going on the run at Preston.  

Invest in two Additional Water Towers 

The project is currently on target with the new appliances due for delivery by the end of 
March 2024. Similar to the new ALP, there will be a period of familiarisation and training 

prior to the appliances going on the run, which are anticipated to be located at St Annes 
and Lancaster.  

Broaden on-call firefighting capabilities to strengthen operational response 

Aerial Ladder Platform (ALP) Driving 

On Call staff at Hyndburn are now trained to drive the ALP to incidents, they have 

already successfully utilised this skill on a number of occasions by driving the ALP to 
incidents. On Call staff at Morecambe are currently undertaking driver training which will 

be completed by the end of November 2023.  

Command Support Unit (CSU) 

The Command Support Unit (CSU) went live on 1 November 2023 and is crewed by 

On Call staff from Bolton-le-Sands and Carnforth. The CSU attended its first incident on 
7 November 2023 at the large commercial building fire in Longridge.  

On Call and Specials Review 
The On Call review is progressing and has identified a number of additional options to 
strengthen operational response. These items alongside the implementation of the 

Specials Review, will see On Call staff being developed to support a number of 
specialist appliances in the future. The Service is currently exploring options around 

potentially training the On Call staff at Lancaster in the swift water rescue specialist 
skill. 
 

Page 23



 

Business risk 

Production of the ECR is a business-critical planning function. LFRS must demonstrate 

a timely review of response arrangements in line with National Framework guidance 
issued by central government. 

 

Environmental impact 

A key driver of the ECR process is to align to our climate change response plan. This 
will drive our operational response through speed of attack and ensuring the most 

effective and efficient resource is deployed with the aim of reducing harm to the 
environment. 

 

Equality and diversity implications 

A full Equality Impact Assessment has been completed alongside an independent 

third-party specialist to ensure any proposed changes do not impact negatively upon 
Lancashire’s diverse community or LFRS’ workforce.   
 

HR implications 

The changes of duty systems and associated operational resource continues to have a 
direct effect on HR functions. HR are managing this through relevant processes 

including consultation and engagement. 
 

Financial implications 

There are associated training and property expenditure due to the implementation of 

the ECR, however these are being managed within existing budgets. Any capital 
spends such as new appliances or dynamic cover software have allocated funds and 

are governed through individual projects reporting into the appropriate programme 
board.  
 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 

List of background papers 

Paper: 
Date: 

Contact: 
Reason for inclusion in Part 2 if appropriate: N/A 

Page 24



 

Lancashire Combined Fire Authority 

Planning Committee 
Meeting to be held on 20 November 2023. 
 

Blue Light Collaboration Board Update 
 
Contact for further information: DCFO Steve Healey  

Tel: 01772 866802 
 
Executive Summary 

 
This is an update regarding Blue Light Collaboration Board progress since the last 
paper in July 2023. 
 
Recommendation 

 
Planning Committee to note the report. 
 

 
Information 

 

This paper provides an update on the progress against the five key workstreams being 
progressed under the Blue Light Collaboration Board (BLCB). The workstreams are 
effectively managed through the Strategic and Tactical Collaboration Boards. 

 
Missing Persons (Missing from home) 

 

Lancashire Fire and Rescue Service (LFRS) continues to support Lancashire 
Constabulary (LanCon) with this successful collaboration and a closure report is now in 

development for this workstream. There were over 220 police requests into North West 
Fire Control (NWFC) for our specialist drone team within the last 12 months. Most of these 

incidents were for missing persons. 
 
The Missing Persons project is being enhanced further with the aim of training teams from 

several ‘on-call’ stations within Lancashire. The locations are identified from data and 
analysis which has shown where people are most likely to go missing from home, and 

where LanCon’s resources are limited. This enables LFRS’ specialist teams to search 
familiar ground in reduced time and improve the likelihood of a positive outcome. This 
training develops the knowledge of what is required by LanCon in the management of a 

missing from home incident including intelligence gathering, record keeping, search areas, 
and ensuring a crime scene isn’t contaminated.  

 
Training is also planned for the contact centre staff in LanCon to increase their knowledge 
of LFRS’ search capabilities.  

 
A Memorandum of Understanding has been developed to provide a framework to further 

support the collaborative use of LFRS and LanCon drones. 
 

Page 25

Agenda Item 5



 

Estates and Co-location 
 

This is a long-term workstream which may deliver significant efficiencies and effectiveness 

where co-location sites are identified. 
 

A set of principles are being developed in relation to co-location sites and a mapping 
exercise of the current co-location sites and the benefits has commenced.  
 

Blue Light partners are currently reviewing their strategic property asset plans to 
coordinate the future development plans over the next 5-10 years. The development plans 

will consider the potential for co-location, and with a view to further developing the 
integration of services at co-location sites to enhance the shared ethos and principles. 
 

All Blue Light partners are included in the scoping work for the LFRS’ Preston area review. 
 
First Responder 
 

Members will recall that as part of our Annual Service Plan priorities this year, the Service 

is running a trial involving staff volunteering as community first responders, supporting 
NWAS. Volunteers respond to life threatening emergencies in their communities from the 

workplace and administer first aid in the initial vital minutes before NWAS colleagues 
arrive. This collaboration aims to save lives in Lancashire’s communities. 
 

Phase 1 of the first responder scheme involved 5 non-operational LFRS’ staff from various 
departments across the Service volunteering to take part in the scheme. At least one life 

has been saved by LFRS’ volunteers. 
 
Phase 2 has commenced which has enabled our operational staff to volunteer for the 

scheme. Eight of our Flexible Duty Officers have so far volunteered to be a community first 
responder and are currently progressing through the onboarding process with NWAS. 

 
Leadership Development  
 

The Learning and Development leads from each of the Blue Light partners are 
investigating leadership development collaboration opportunities. 

 
An analysis of leadership development is ongoing between the three organisations with 
the Services currently exploring an additional mentorship programme for command and 

control. 
 
Command Units  
 

The aim of this project is to establish and deliver additional collaborative uses of the 

command units in LFRS to support effective multi agency working amongst emergency 
responders. The key objectives are to improve operational effectiveness and in line with 

LFRS’ mission; ‘Making Lancashire Safer’. 
 
LFRS’ Command Support Unit (CSU) project was listed in this year’s Service Plan and 

aims to upgrade not only the vehicles but to take advantage in recent technological 

Page 26



 

advances to support operational incidents. The first new CSU went live on 1st November 
and is crewed by on-call staff from Carnforth and Bolton-le-Sands fire stations. As part of 
the agreed capital vehicle replacement project, two larger command units will also be in 

service by the end of 2023.  
 

It is expected that the initial benefits to be realised will be technological advances that will 
further develop information sharing and situational awareness aligned to improving and 
embedding the Joint Emergency Services Interoperability Principles. Further scoping and 

development will be overseen by the Blue Light Collaboration board to ensure 
opportunities for joint working are effectively co-ordinated and delivered. 

 
Financial Implications 

 

All collaboration projects within this update are included within existing agreed revenue 
and capital budgets. 

 
LFRS has reviewed the policy for recharging other organisations and agencies for use of 
LFRS personnel and equipment at non-statutory incidents. The policy provides decision-

makers guidance on how and when charging is appropriate and is aligned to the National 
Fire Chiefs Council published guidance on recharge costs. 

 
Sustainability or Environmental Impact 

 

N/a 
 
Equality and Diversity Implications 
 

N/a 

 
Human Resource Implications 

 

N/a 
 
Business Risk Implications 
 

Reputational risk if there is limited evidence regarding the duty to collaborate, as a result of 
the Policing and Crime Act 2017. 
 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 

List of background papers 

Paper: 

Date: 
Contact: 

 
Reason for inclusion in Part 2 if appropriate: N/a 

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Lancashire Combined Fire Authority 

Planning Committee 

Meeting to be held on Monday 20 November 2023 
 

His Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue 
Services (HMICFRS) Update 

 

Contact for further information – Steve Healey, Deputy Chief Fire Officer 
Tel: 01772 866801 

 

Executive Summary 

This report provides an update on His Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary Fire 
and Rescue Services (HMICFRS) activity. 

 
Additionally, it provides information regarding Lancashire Fire and Rescue 
Service’s (LFRS) ongoing preparations for HMICFRS Round 3 inspection, the 

inspection process, wider HMICFRS activity including misconduct and values and 
culture within fire and rescue services. 

 

Recommendation 

Planning Committee is requested to note and endorse the update. 
 

 

Round 3 Overview 

HMICFRS commenced Round 3 inspections in early 2023, the three pillars; 
effectiveness, efficiency, and people remain the same as Round 2. So too do the 
11 diagnostics under each pillar which inspectors make graded judgements against. 

Early engagement with our Service Laision Lead, Dominic Mika has taken place 
between Chief Fire Officer Justin Johnston and Area Manager Tom Powell (LFRS 

Service Liaison Officer). Dominic will start to be introduced into the Service over the 
coming months in the build up to our inspection. HMI Michelle Skeer, recently retired 
Chief Constable of Cumbria Constabulary, has three meetings planned with the Chair of 

the Authority, the Chief Fire Officer and Trade Union officials/ staff network group 
representatives at the start of December. The Chair of the Authority and the Chief Fire 

Officer recently attended the HMICFRS Chief and Chairs event in London. 

It is anticipated that Lancashire’s inspection will take place around late spring / early 
summer 2024. The Organisational Assurance Team within the Service Improvement 

Department continue to track progress against our previous inspection, monitor national 
themes and prepare LFRS for our Round 3 inspection. 

HMICFRS is publishing reports on a rolling basis for Round 3 and have so far published 
eight reports on fire and rescue services (FRS). With the introduction of the ‘adequate’ 
grading, many FRS’s have seen ‘good’ gradings from Round 2 change to ‘adequate’ 

gradings in Round 3 due to identified ‘areas for improvement’. A summary of the 
gradings for all eight FRSs inspected so far in Round 3 can be found below. 

Page 29

Agenda Item 6



 

  

E
ff

e
c
ti

v
e
n

e
s
s
 

U
n
d
e
rs

ta
n
d
in

g
 
th

e
 r

is
k
 o

f 

fi
re

 a
n
d
 o

th
e
r 

e
m

e
rg

e
n
c
ie

s
 

P
re

v
e
n
ti
n
g
 f

ir
e
s
 a

n
d
 o

th
e
r 

ri
s
k
s
 

P
ro

te
c
ti
n
g
 t

h
e
 p

u
b
lic

 

th
ro

u
g
h
 f

ir
e
 r

e
g
u
la

ti
o
n

 

R
e
s
p
o
n
d
in

g
 
to

 f
ir
e
s
 a

n
d
 

o
th

e
r 

e
m

e
rg

e
n
c
ie

s
 

R
e
s
p
o
n
d
in

g
 
to

 m
a
jo

r 
a
n
d
 

m
u
lt
i-
a
g
e
n
c
y
 i

n
c
id

e
n
ts

 
 

E
ff

ic
ie

n
c
y
 

M
a
k
in

g
 b

e
s
t 

u
s
e
 o

f 

re
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 

M
a
k
in

g
 t

h
e
 f

ir
e
 a

n
d
 r

e
s
c
u
e
 

s
e
rv

ic
e
 a

ff
o
rd

a
b
le

 n
o
w

 a
n
d
 

in
 t

h
e
 f

u
tu

re
 

 

P
e
o

p
le

 

P
ro

m
o
ti
n
g
 t

h
e
 r

ig
h
t 

v
a
lu

e
s
 

a
n
d
 c

u
lt
u
re

 

G
e
tt

in
g
 t

h
e
 r

ig
h
t 

p
e
o
p
le

 w
it
h
 

th
e
 r

ig
h
t 

s
k
ill

s
 

E
n
s
u
ri
n
g
 f

a
ir
n
e
s
s
 a

n
d
 

p
ro

m
o
ti
n
g
 d

iv
e
rs

it
y

 

M
a
n
a
g
in

g
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 
a
n
d
 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
in

g
 l

e
a
d
e
rs

 

Beds 

Round 3:   
G RI RI RI A   RI G   RI A A A 

Beds 
Round 2:   

G RI RI G G   RI G   G G G G 

  
               

Cambs 
Round 3:    

G G G A A   O G   G A G RI 

Cambs 
Round 2:    

G G G G G   G RI   G G G G 

  
               

Cheshire 
Round 3:   

A A G A A   A G   G G G G 

Cheshire 

Round 2:    
G G G G G   G G   G G G RI 

  
               

Warwicks 

Round 3:   
A RI RI A A   RI RI   A RI RI RI 

Warwicks 
Round 2:   

RI I RI RI G   RI RI   RI RI RI RI 

  
               

Cornwall 
Round 3:   

A RI A A RI   RI RI   A RI I RI 

Cornwall 
Round 2:   

RI RI RI RI G   RI RI   G RI RI RI 

  
               

Surrey 
Round 3:   

A RI RI RI RI   RI A   G A RI RI 

Surrey 

Round 2:   
RI G G RI RI   RI G   G G RI RI 

  
               

Bucks 

Round 3:   
RI RI I RI A   RI RI   RI RI RI RI 

Bucks 
Round 2:   

RI RI RI G G   RI RI   RI RI RI RI 

  
               

Merseyside 
Round 3:   

G O G G O   O G   A A A G 

Merseyside 
Round 2:   

G O G G O   O G   G G RI G 

 

Key Outstanding Good Adequate Requires Improvement Inadequate 

 

Page 30



 

Misconduct within the fire and rescue service  

HMICFRS has commissioned Crest Advisory to carry out research on misconduct 
within fire and rescue services in England. The goal is to better understand misconduct 
within the fire and rescue service so its processes and policies can be strengthened 

and improved. 

Crest Advisory are conducting two online surveys: one aimed at current members of 
staff, and another aimed at former members of staff who have worked in a fire and 

rescue service within the last five years. Current members of staff can take part in this 
survey which is open until 4 December 2023. Former members of staff can register their 

interest to take part in research interviews with registration open until 11 December 
2023. LFRS has shared details of the surveys with both current and former members of 
staff. 

Information shared in the research will typically remain confidential, unless there are 
safeguarding, or criminal issues raised that require it to be shared with a third party 

(e.g. the police). Reporting of data obtained via surveys and interviews will be 
anonymised. 

The findings will contribute to the evidence base of the national inspection on 

misconduct within fire and rescue services, which will be reported on by HMICFRS in 
June 2024. 

Values and culture in fire and rescue services 

Values and culture in fire and rescue services remains a focus for HMICFRS and LFRS 
has already been working proactively in terms of promoting its values and engendering 

an organisational culture where all employees can thrive.  The Resources Committee 
has recently received a report on progress the Service has made in relation to equality 

diversity and inclusion (EDI) as part of our EDI Annual Report.  The Resources 
Committee was also updated on progress the Service is making regarding the 
HMICFRS and National Fire Chiefs Council recommendations in relation to values and 

culture. 

HMICFRS Autumn Data Collection 

LFRS is currently collating the Autumn data collection which will be submitted to 
HMICFRS prior to the deadline of 24 November 2023. 

Business risk 

The inspection will monitor LFRS’s direction of travel since 2022 which could cause 
reputational damage if it is perceived that we have not made reasonable progress. 

Sustainability or Environmental Impact 

None 

Equality and Diversity Implications 

None 

 

Page 31



 

Data Protection (GDPR) 

None 

HR implications 

None 

Financial implications 

None 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 

List of background papers 

Paper: 

Date: 

Contact: 

 

Reason for inclusion in Part 2 if appropriate: N/A 

 

Page 32


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	4 Emergency Cover Review - Implementation Update
	5 Blue Light Collaboration Board Update
	6 His Majesty's Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue Services

